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I.     INTRODUCTION

1.
In this Forfeiture Order (“Order”), we issue a monetary forfeiture in the amount of seven thousand dollars ($7,000) against ARS Broadcasting Corp. (“ARS Broadcasting”), former licensee of AM Station WOOO, Shelbyville, Indiana,
 for willful and repeated violation of Section 73.49 of the Commission’s Rules (“Rules”).
  The noted violation involves ARS Broadcasting’s failure to maintain locked fences or other enclosures around the WOOO antenna towers.

2.
On February 8, 2000, the Commission’s Chicago, Illinois Field Office (“Field Office”) issued a Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture (“NAL”) to ARS Broadcasting in the amount of seven thousand dollars ($7,000) for the noted violation.
  ARS Broadcasting filed a response to the NAL on February 25, 2000.

II.
BACKGROUND

3.
On the evening of April 2, 1999, an agent from the Commission’s Chicago, Illinois Field Office (“Field Office”) inspected the transmission facilities for WOOO. During the inspection, the agent found, among other things, that WOOO’s east antenna tower gate was unlocked and the gate to its center tower was open.    Later that evening, the Commission’s agent met with WOOO’s general manager and spoke to him about the violations that he had found during his inspection.

4.
On the morning of April 16, 1999, a second agent from the Field Office inspected WOOO’s transmission facilities and found that the east antenna tower gate remained unlocked.  On April 22, 1999, the District Director of the Field Office issued a Notice of Violation (“NOV”) to ARS Broadcasting for the violations that the agents found during their April 2 and April 16, 1999 inspections.  The Field Office received ARS Broadcasting’s response to the NOV on May 6, 1999.  After considering ARS Broadcasting’s response, the District Director issued the subject NAL.

5.
In its response to the NAL, ARS Broadcasting argues that we cannot consider the agent’s findings of a violation of Section 73.49 on April 16, 1999, as willful and repeated because the agent who inspected WOOO on April 2, 1999 did not specify a time frame for ARS Broadcasting to bring WOOO into compliance with the Rules and the District Director did not mention the April 16, 1999 inspection in the NOV. According to ARS Broadcasting, only after receiving the NOV did it fully understand the nature of its violation of the Rules, and its compliance options.  ARS Broadcasting “accepts full responsibility” for failing to close and lock its antenna tower gates, but notes that a painter that it had hired left the gates open and unlocked, and that given its warning signs and antenna tower’s remote location, “a lock would have little impact on preventing someone from obtaining access if they truly wanted to.”  ARS Broadcasting states that this is the first time that the Commission has cited it for violating its Rules.  With respect to ability to pay the $7,000 forfeiture, ARS Broadcasting states that it sold WOOO in November of 1999 for a sum “substantially beneath” that which it paid for WOOO in 1989, and that for the last few years WOOO was not profitable, as documented in ARS Broadcasting’s 1998 United States Income Tax Return Form 1120S.  Lastly, ARS Broadcasting suggests that it might qualify as a “small business” under the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Act (“SBREFA”).

III.
DISCUSSION

6.
Section 73.49 of the Rules states that antenna towers that have radio frequency potential at their bases “must be enclosed within effective locked fences or other enclosures.”
  ARS Broadcasting states that it “accepts full responsibility for the action” of its painter to fail to close and secure WOOO’s antenna towers’ gates.  Noting ARS Broadcasting’s admission, as well as the factual record before us, we reject its contention that its violation of Section 73.49 of the Rules on April 2 and 16, 1999 was not willful,
 or repeated.
  The agent from the Field Office informed ARS Broadcasting of the violation on April 2, 1999. ARS Broadcasting had not corrected that violation as of April 16, 1999.  Thus, as of April 2, 1999, ARS Broadcasting was on notice that it was in violation of the Commission’s Rules, and, therefore, was obligated to come into compliance immediately.  When FCC staff tells someone that they are in violation of a rule, the staff is not required to state the obvious, i.e., that the person is supposed to comply with the rule. 

7.
ARS Broadcasting claims that it did not understand the nature of the violation until it received the NOV from the Field Office and that the fence was repaired or in the process of being repaired by April 30, 1999.  It is well established that “[l]icensees are expected to know and comply with the Commission’s rules, and will not be excused for violations thereof, absent clear mitigating circumstances.”
 

Moreover, while remedial action to correct a violation is commendable, such action will not nullify a forfeiture penalty.

8.
ARS Broadcasting’s other arguments relate to its request that we reduce the $7,000 forfeiture.  The Commission’s base forfeiture amount for violating Section 73.49 of the Rules is $7,000.
 The absence of prior violations is one factor that we consider under the Forfeiture Policy Statement
 when setting the forfeiture amount.  But in this instance, on April 16, 1999, a Commission agent found that ARS Broadcasting continued to violate Section 73.49 of the Rules, even after another Commission agent had notified WOOO’s general manager of the same violation on April 2, 1999.  Because ARS Broadcasting’s violation was repeated, as well as willful, no reduction in the forfeiture amount is warranted.
  

9.
We find that ARS Broadcasting’s financial claim lacks merit.  According to the instructions provided in the NAL with respect to proof for such claims, “[c]laims of inability to pay should be supported by tax returns or other financial statements prepared under generally accepted accounting procedures for the most recent three year period.”
  On this point, the Commission has stated that,

[i]n general a licensee’s gross revenues are the best indicator of its ability to pay a forfeiture. Nevertheless, we recognize that in some cases, other financial indicators, such as net losses, may also be relevant.  If gross revenues are sufficiently great, however, the mere fact that a business is operating at a loss does not by itself mean that it cannot afford to pay a forfeiture.

ARS Broadcasting submits only the first page of its 1998 United States Income Tax Return Form 1120S for our review and directs us to public filings for us to find the price for which it sold WOOO in November of 1999.  ARS Broadcasting reported gross receipts or sales of $219,121 on its Form 1120S and, according to Commission records, sold WOOO for $250,000.  Even assuming, arguendo, that sufficient financial information has been provided by ARS Broadcasting, based on the information submitted we would find no reason to reduce its forfeiture amount.

10.
Turning to ARS Broadcasting’s claim that it might qualify as a small business, we will assume, for this discussion only, that it qualifies as a small business.  The Commission, following Section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Act,
 and through its Forfeiture Policy Statement and Section 1.80(b) of the Rules,
 has already considered its obligations under SBREFA and enunciated the appropriate guidance for upward and downward adjustments to forfeitures, as provided by SBREFA.
  Using this guidance, we do not find that ARS Broadcasting is entitled to a further reduction or cancellation of the forfeiture amount.

11.
After examining ARS Broadcasting’s response to the NAL under Section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Act and the Forfeiture Policy Statement, we find that $7,000 is the appropriate forfeiture amount in this case.

IV.
ORDERING CLAUSES


12.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that, pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Act,
 and Sections 0.111, 0.311, and 1.80(f)(4) of the Rules,
 ARS Broadcasting Corp. IS LIABLE FOR A MONETARY FORFEITURE in the amount of seven thousand dollars ($7,000) for willfully and repeatedly violating Section 73.49 of the Commission’s Rules.


13.
Payment of the forfeiture shall be made in the manner provided for in Section 1.80 of the Rules,
 within 30 days of the release of this Order.  If the forfeiture is not paid within the period specified, the case may be referred to the Department of Justice for collection pursuant to Section 504(a) of the Act.
 Payment may be made by credit card through the Commission's Credit and Debt Management Center at (202) 418-1995, or by mailing a check or similar instrument, payable to the order of the “Federal Communications Commission,” to the Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482. The payment should note NAL/Acct. No. X3232-001 referenced above.  Requests for full payment under an installment plan should be sent to: Chief, Credit and Debt Management Center, 445 12th Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20554.


14.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, a copy of this Order shall be sent by Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested to ARS Broadcasting Corp., P.O. Box 15435, Cincinnati, Ohio.  






FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION






David H. Solomon






Chief, Enforcement Bureau

� Although ARS Broadcasting sold WOOO in November of 1999, it was the licensee at the time of the noted violation.  ARS Broadcasting Response to NAL at 2.  Not counting WOOO, as of May 31, 2000, the Commission’s records show that ARS Broadcasting held four licenses (WINN, WNVI, WLF255, and WME708).





� 47 C.F.R. § 73.49.





� Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, NAL/Acct. No. X3232-001 (Enf. Bur.: Chicago Office, rel. Feb. 8, 2000).


� 47 C.F.R. § 73.49.





� Section 312(f)(1) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (“Act”), 47 U.S.C. § 312(f), which applies to Section 503(b) of the Act, provides that  “[t]he term ‘willful’, when used with reference to the commission or omission of any act, means the conscious and deliberate commission or omission of such act, irrespective of any intent to violate any provision of this Act or any rule or regulation of the Commission authorized by this Act or by a treaty ratified by the United States.”  See Southern California Broadcasting Co., 6 FCC Rcd 4387 (1991).


� Section 312(f)(2) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 312(f)(2), which applies to Section 503(b) of the Act, provides that “[t]he term ‘repeated’, when used with reference to the commission or omission of any act, means the commission or omission of such act more than once or, if such commission or omission is continuous, for more than one day.”





� Sitka Broadcasting Co., Inc., 70 FCC 2d 2375, 2378 (1979).





� See Station KGVL, Inc., 42 FCC 2d 258, 259 (1973).





� See The Commission’s Forfeiture Policy Statement and Amendment of Section 1.80 of the Rules to Incorporate the Forfeiture Guidelines (“Forfeiture Policy Statement”), 12 FCC Rcd 17087, 17113 (1997), recon. denied, 15 FCC Rcd 303 (1999); 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b), note to paragraph b(4), Section I.—Base Amounts for Section 503 Forfeitures.





� 12 FCC Rcd at 17116; 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b), note to paragraph b(4), Section II.—Adjustment Criteria for Section 503 Forfeitures.





� See supra notes 5-6; 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b), note to paragraph b(4), Section II.—Adjustment Criteria for Section 503 Forfeitures.





� NAL at 3 n.3; See Barry A. Stevenson, 12 FCC Rcd 1976, 1977 (Compl. & Inf. Bur. 1997); Morradio Inc., 14 FCC Rcd 5201, 5203-04 (Compl. & Inf. Bur. 1999).


 


� PJB Communications of Virginia, Inc., 7 FCC Rcd 2088, 2089 (1992).





�  The $7,000 forfeiture, which is approximately 3.2% of ARS Broadcasting’s gross receipts or sales of $219,121 for 1998, is not excessive.  See id. 


� 47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(2)(D).





� 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(b).





� See Jerry Szoka, 14 FCC Rcd 9857, 9866 (1999), recon. denied 14 FCC Rcd 20147 (1999).





� 47 U.S.C. § 503(b). 





� 47 C.F.R. §§ 0.111, 0.311, 1.80(f)(4).


 


� 47 C.F.R. § 1.80.





� 47 U.S.C. § 504(a).





� See 47 C.F.R. § 1.1914.
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